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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

SAN FRANCISCO DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,

v.

GREGORY L. REYES and 
STEPHANIE JENSEN,

          Defendants.
____________________________________

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

CR 06-0556 CRB 

UNITED STATES’ OPPOSITION TO
DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS
COUNTS ONE THROUGH SEVEN 

Date: February 7, 2007
Time: 10:00 a.m.
Place: Courtroom 8, 19th Floor
Judge: Hon. Charles R. Breyer

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The law is clear that an indictment must allege only the elements of the charged offense

so as to ensure the right of the defendant not to be placed in double jeopardy and to be informed

of the offense charged.  The indictment does that here.  There are no grounds for dismissing any

counts from the indictment.  Indeed, defendants wrongly argue that the government must allege

evidentiary facts within the indictment, and then wrongly argue that the Court should resolve

disputed evidentiary facts in their favor prior to trial.  However, an indictment does not have to

allege evidentiary detail.  And it is the role of the jury to resolve disputed facts.  As such, the
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C-06-4435 CRB 2

Court should deny defendants’ motion to dismiss regardless of whether the Court were inclined

to adopt the majority’s analysis in United States v. Brown, 459 F.3d 509 (5th Cir. 2006).

In the event that the Court addresses the Brown majority’s analysis, it should decline to

follow that analysis.  Contrary to defendants’ argument, the Brown majority’s decision is not “a

landmark decision” that should be adopted by courts in this circuit.  Rather, it is a poorly

reasoned decision that is contrary to the great weight of authority interpreting 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341

and 1346.  According to the Brown majority, fraudulent conduct that breaches an employee’s

fiduciary duty to a corporation and its shareholders does not violate the honest services provision

of the mail fraud statute if the employee’s fraudulent conduct is consistent with an illegitimate

“corporate goal” set by high-ranking executives, some of whom are complicit in the fraudulent

scheme.  That holding is illogical and contrary to the great weight of authority interpreting §§

1341 and 1346.  It effectively insulates employees who engage in accounting fraud from liability

under §§ 1341 and 1346 whenever they can claim that they were pursuing an illegitimate

corporate policy that was approved by corrupt corporate management. 

As shown below, the indictment properly charges defendants with violating §§ 1341 and

1346 based on their fraudulent scheme to pay employees under the table by backdating and

falsifying corporate records relating to employee compensation, namely, stock options.  By

engaging in that conduct, the defendants hid hundreds of millions of dollars in compensation

costs from Brocade’s finance department, its Board, and ultimately its shareholders; they caused

Brocade to give away equity for less than its market value in violation of Brocade’s corporate

policy; and they caused Brocade to overstate its profits, to pay backdated pay to employees for

work they did not perform for Brocade, and to restate its financial statements.  The defendants

plainly breached their fiduciary duties to Brocade and its shareholders by making materially

false statements and withholding material information.  The defendants have been properly

charged with depriving Brocade of its right to their and others’ honest services. 
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C-06-4435 CRB 3

BACKGROUND

On August 10, 2006, a Grand Jury in this District returned an indictment charging the

defendants with, among other things, engaging in a scheme to defraud by backdating Board

minutes granting stock options and other documents.  As set forth in the indictment, the

defendants backdated the Board minutes to make it appear that the Board met and stock options

were granted and priced at the market value of Brocade’s stock on dates when the value of the

stock was relatively low.  In fact, the meetings did not occur on those dates.  (Indictment ¶¶

17(a), 19, 20.)  Similarly, the indictment charges that the defendants backdated employment

offer letters and similar records so that the certain employees could be placed on earlier stock

option grants when the market price of Brocade’s stock was relatively low and so that it

appeared that the employees were actually employed by Brocade, when in fact they were not. 

(Indictment ¶¶ 17(b), 21, 22.)

By backdating the Board minutes and employment records, the defendants intentionally

cooked Brocade’s books and made Brocade appear more profitable than it actually was.  As set

forth in the indictment, the defendants gave away valuable “in-the-money” stock option grants

while hiding the true cost and nature of those grants from Brocade, its Board, its shareholders, its

auditors, the public, and the SEC.  (Indictment ¶ 18.)  As defendants knew, the backdated Board

minutes and employment records were relied upon by Brocade’s finance department and auditors

when preparing Brocade’s financial statements.  (Indictment ¶ 12, 14, 24.)  When the finance

department and auditors reviewed the backdated records, they relied on the accuracy of the dates

on the records.  They did not know that the documents were backdated and that defendants had

in fact granted valuable in-the-money stock options to employees and non-employees. 

(Indictment ¶ 24.)  Through their backdating scheme, the defendants gave away equity in

Brocade for less than its market value and kept hundreds of millions of dollars in compensation

expenses off Brocade’s books.  (Indictment ¶ 29-31.)  

As charged in the indictment, the defendants devised the scheme to defraud “to obtain

money and property for themselves and others . . . .”  (Indictment ¶ 16.)  Among other counts,

the indictment charges two counts of mail fraud.  In particular, Counts Three and Four charge in
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C-06-4435 CRB 4

relevant part: 

Beginning in or about 2000, and continuing up to in or about 2004, within the
Northern District of California and elsewhere, for the purpose of executing a scheme and
artifice to defraud as to a material matter, to obtain money and property for themselves
and others by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and
promises, and the concealment of material facts, and to deprive their employer Brocade
of its intangible right to their and other employees’ honest services, defendants

GREGORY L. REYES and 
STEPHANIE JENSEN

did knowingly cause the following items to be delivered by a private and commercial
interstate carrier according to the direction thereon . . . .  All in violation of Title 18,
United States Code, Sections 1341, 1346 and 2.

 

ARGUMENT

I. THE FRAUD COUNTS CANNOT BE DISMISSED BECAUSE THE INDICTMENT IS
VALID ON ITS FACE. 

A.  An Indictment That Is Valid On Its Face Cannot Be Dismissed.

In moving to dismiss seven counts in the indictment, the defendants do not cite the

relevant legal standard for obtaining such relief.  The defendants bear a heavy burden to obtain

the dismissal of an indictment.  The law is clear that “[a]n indictment need only contain a ‘plain,

concise and definite statement of the essential facts constituting the offense charged.’”

Fed.R.Crim.P. 7(c).  “Generally, an indictment is sufficient if it sets forth the elements of the

charged offense so as to ensure the right of the defendant not to be placed in double jeopardy and

to be informed of the offense charged.”  United States v. Woodruff, 50 F.3d 673, 676 (9th Cir.

1995).  

“In the Ninth Circuit, the use of a ‘bare bones’ information – that is one employing the

statutory language alone – is quite common and entirely permissible so long as the statute sets

forth fully, directly and clearly all essential elements of the crime to be punished.”  Woodruff, 50

F.3d at 676 (citation and internal quotation omitted); see also United States v. Givens, 767 F.2d

574, 584 (9th Cir. 1985) (“An indictment which tracks the words of the statute charging the

offense is sufficient so long as the words unambiguously set forth all elements necessary to

constitute the offense.”); United States v. Mathews, 772 F.2d 208, 209 (9th Cir. 1978) (holding

that indictment was valid where it was “cast in the language of the applicable statute”); United
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C-06-4435 CRB 5

States v. Alfonso, 143 F.3d 772, 776 (9th Cir. 1998) (“‘an indictment need do little more than to

track the language of the statute charged”) (citation and internal quotation omitted).  

The Ninth Circuit has also held that an indictment “should be read in its entirety,

construed according to common sense, and interpreted to include facts which are necessarily

implied.”  Givens, 767 F.2d at 584; see also United States v. Hinton, 222 F.3d 664, 672 (9th Cir.

2000).  Moreover, an indictment is not like a civil complaint.  It does not have to plead

“evidentiary detail” relating to the charged offense.  Woodruff, 50 F.3d at 676; see also United

State v. Caldwell, 302 F.2d 399, 412 (5th Cir. 2002) (holding that “[i]t is not necessary for an

indictment to go further and to allege in detail the factual proof that will be relied upon to

support the charges”) (citation and internal quotation omitted); United States v. Macy, 777

F.Supp. 1393, 1395 (N.D. Ill. 1991) (“An indictment need not set forth evidentiary detail, and

should not be dismissed where it contains the elements of the offense charged, informs the

defendants of the charges, and enables them to avoid future prosecutions for the same

offense(s).”).    

The law is also clear that “[a]n indictment returned by a legally constituted and unbiased

grand jury, . . . if valid on its face, is enough to call for trial of the charge on the merits.” 

Costello v. United States, 350 U.S. 359, 363 (1956).  Such an indictment cannot be challenged

on the ground that there was inadequate evidence before the grand jury:  

If indictments were to be held open to challenge on the ground that there was inadequate
or incompetent evidence before the grand jury, the resulting delay would be great indeed. 
The result of such a rule would be that before trial on the merits a defendant could always
insist on a kind of preliminary trial to determine the competency and adequacy of the
evidence before the grand jury.  This is not required by the Fifth Amendment.

Id.  Indeed, there is no equivalent in criminal law to summary judgment.  “A court should not

inquire into the sufficiency of the evidence before the indicting grand jury, because the grand

jury proceeding is a preliminary phase of the criminal justice process and all constitutional

protection will be afforded at trial.”  United States v. Maceo, 873 F.2d 1, 2-3 (1st Cir. 1989); see

also United States v. Callahan, 300 F.Supp. 519, 523 (S.D.N.Y. 1969) (“this court is not to

review the sufficiency of the evidence before th[e] grand jury”).
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B.  The Indictment Properly Charges Mail Fraud Under §§ 1341 And 1346.

The Ninth Circuit has held that the elements of mail fraud are that defendant “(1)

participated in a scheme with the intent to defraud, and (2) the scheme used or caused the use of

the mails in furtherance of the scheme.”  United States v. Lyons, 454 F.3d 968, 971 (9th Cir.

2006) (citations and quotation omitted).  In 1988, Congress enacted 18 U.S.C. § 1346, which

provides: “For the purpose of this chapter, the term ‘scheme or artifice to defraud’ includes a

scheme or artifice to deprive another of the intangible right of honest services.”1  Applying 18

U.S.C. § 1346, the Ninth Circuit has held that a defendant may be charged with denying a private

employer of its right to the defendant’s honest services where the defendant stands in a fiduciary

relationship with the employer: “Depriving an employer of one’s honest services and of its right

to have its business conducted honestly can constitute a ‘scheme to defraud’ under § 1341.” 

United States v. Williams, 441 F.3d 716, 723 (9th Cir. 2006) (citation and internal quotation

omitted).

Here, the mail fraud counts should not be dismissed because they “set[] forth the

elements of the charged offense so as to ensure the right of the defendant not to be placed in

double jeopardy and to be informed of the offense charged.”  Woodruff, 50 F.3d at 676.  In

particular, Counts Three and Four charge that defendants engaged in a scheme to defraud

Brocade, its shareholders, and others by backdating stock option agreements, employment

documents, and similar records, and that the they caused the use of the mails in furtherance of

the scheme.  Those Counts also charge that defendants acted “to obtain money and property for

themselves and others” and that they acted “to deprive their employer Brocade of its intangible

right to their and other employees’ honest services.”  (Indictment ¶ 39.)  As pled, the indictment

properly sets forth the elements of mail fraud so as to notify defendants of the charges against

them and to allow the defendants to plead double jeopardy in the future.  There is no basis for

dismissing any counts in the indictment. 
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C-06-4435 CRB 7

Other circuits have rejected facial challenges to an indictment that are similar to those

made here.  In United States v. Vinyard, 266 F.3d 320 (4th Cir. 2001), for example, the defendant

argued that an indictment charging mail fraud under § 1341 and 1346 should be dismissed

because it failed to charge actual economic harm to the defendant’s employer, which was a fact

that the defendant claimed the government was required to prove at trial.  Before deciding

whether the government was required to prove that fact at trial, the Fourth Circuit rejected the

defendant’s challenge to the validity of the indictment:  

[Defendant’s] assertion on this point misapprehends the requirements for an indictment. 
A valid indictment must “contain the elements of the offense charged, fairly inform a
defendant of the charge, and enable the defendant to plead double jeopardy as a defense
in a future prosecution for the same offense.” . . .  We have observed that the elements of
mail fraud are “(1) the existence of a scheme to defraud, and (2) the mailing of a letter,
etc., for purposes of executing the scheme.”  In codifying the “honest services” doctrine
in 1988, as embodied in 18 U.S.C. § 1346 (2000), Congress made it clear that the “the
term ‘scheme or artifice to defraud’ includes a scheme or artifice to deprive another of
the intangible right of honest services.”  Thus, the elements of a mail fraud scheme
involving the deprivation of honest services are identical to those of a normal mail fraud
prosecution.  Although judicial interpretation of the “honest services” doctrine has
somewhat limited its scope in the private employment context, those limitations have not
altered the essential elements of the mail fraud offense that must be alleged in the
indictment. . . . This indictment therefore complied with the statutory and constitutional
requirements, and the district court’s denial of [defendant’s] motion to dismiss was
entirely proper.  

Vinyard, 266 F.3d at 325-26 (internal citations omitted).  As such, even if defendants are correct

that the government must prove self-dealing at trial under the analysis of the Brown court’s

majority opinion, that “judicial interpretation” of §§ 1341 and 1346 has “not altered the essential

elements of the mail fraud offense that must be alleged in the indictment.”  Id.  Those elements

have been properly alleged in the indictment at issue here.  

Similarly, in United States v. Douglas, 398 F.3d 407 (6th Cir. 2005), the defendant moved

to dismiss an indictment charging mail fraud in violation of §§ 1341 and 1346 on the ground that

it did not allege that the defendant breached a fiduciary duty.  The district court granted the

motion based upon Sixth Circuit authority holding that to prove that a defendant denied his

employer of honest services under §§ 1341 and 1346, the government is required to prove that

the defendant breached a fiduciary duty owed to his employer.  The Sixth Circuit reversed:

The government contends that the “breach” element identified by the district court is not
actually an element of the honest services claim.  The government argues that this Court
has only identified the “breach” issue as an evidentiary burden, and therefore is not
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C-06-4435 CRB 8

properly the subject of a sufficiency-of-the-indictment inquiry. . . . The government
accurately states the elements of the honest services charge.  The indictment has only to
allege that defendants devised a scheme to defraud, involving use of the mails for the
purpose of executing the scheme.  The indictment sufficiently makes these allegations.

Douglas, 398 F.3d at 419.  As in Douglas, the indictment in this case properly charges the

elements of “honest services” mail fraud.  The indictment does not have to charge evidentiary

detail.  As such, the indictment is sufficient.  That is true even if the court were to accept

Brown’s judicial gloss defining the scope of “honest services” mail fraud. 

C.  Defendants’ Motion Relies On Disputed Facts That Are Outside The Indictment.

The defendants’ motion to dismiss the fraud counts improperly looks beyond the face of

the indictment and relies on disputed facts.  For example, the defendants assert the following

facts: 

• The defendant “in no way profited from the conduct at issue . . . .”  (Def.’s Br. at

2.) 

• The defendant “at no time acted to the economic detriment of his corporate

employer.”  (Def.’s Br. at 2.)

• The defendant’s scheme to hide compensation charges did not affect the market

price of Brocade’s stock because of the “fundamental principles of financial

economics that purely non-cash accounting charges . . . do not affect stock

prices.”  (Def.’s Br. at 4 (citing Stephen A. Ross, Corporate Finance (2005) and

Brocade’s recent earning releases).)  

• “The options granting program at Brocade at all times operated in conformity

with what the indictment itself properly identifies as the program’s corporate

mission, shared by management and the Board alike: i.e., recruiting and retaining

talent.” (Def.s’ Br. at 8.)

• The defendant “displayed undivided loyalty to his corporate employer and

personally profited by not one nickel.”  (Def.’s Br. at 11.)

The above facts, and others argued by the defense, cannot be fairly extrapolated from the

face of the indictment and are disputed by the government.  For instance, the government
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C-06-4435 CRB 9

contends that:2

 • Defendants benefitted from their scheme to defraud.  Among other things, the

defendants did in fact include themselves on some stock option grants that were

approved by defendant Reyes acting as a “committee of one,” and the defendants

became extremely wealthy selling Brocade stock while Brocade’s financial

statements failed to disclose hundreds of millions of dollars of compensation

expenses.  The defendants sold Brocade stock while possessing information that

other shareholders did not possess: namely, that Brocade’s financial statements

were false because they understated Brocade’s expenses.

• The defendants acted to the economic detriment of Brocade.  The defendants

backdating scheme hid a significant amount of compensation expenses from

Brocade’s board, its finance department, and the investing public and caused

Brocade to issue false financial statements.  In addition, because defendants gave

out discounted options, their scheme allowed Brocade employees to exercise the

options for less than the options were worth on the dates of the grants, thereby

depriving Brocade of money.  Moreover, for some employees, the defendants

caused Brocade to pay the employees retroactive salary for time periods when

they were not employed by Brocade and did no work for Brocade.   

• The defendants’ scheme misled shareholders regarding Brocade’s option granting

practices and caused Brocade to misreport its profits over a several-year period. 

By artificially reducing its costs, the defendants’ backdating scheme affected

Brocade’s stock price and made Brocade’s stock appear more attractive to

investors.  

• The option granting program did not operate in conformity with the program’s

corporate mission.  In the hands of the defendants, Brocade’s stock option
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C-06-4435 CRB 10

granting program was riddled with fraud.  Fraud is not Brocade’s corporate

mission.  Indeed, the issue is not whether a stock option program can advance a

legitimate corporate purpose.  It can.  Rather, the issue is whether administering a

stock option program by falsifying Board minutes and similar documents

advances a legitimate corporate mission.  It does not.

• The defendants did not display undivided loyalty, and, as discussed above, they

benefitted from the fraud.  Indeed, they falsified Board minutes and other

documents and failed to disclose material information to Brocade’s finance

department, its Board, its auditors, and its shareholders.

The law is clear that the above factual disputes cannot be resolved through a motion

challenging the sufficiency of the indictment.  Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 12(b)(2)

provides: “A party may raise by pretrial motion any defense, objection, or request that the court

can determine without a trial of the general issue.”  Here, the allegedly undisputed facts that

underpin defendants’ motion are disputed, and, assuming that those disputed facts are legally

relevant, they must be decided by a jury after a trial.  See United States v. Safavian, 429

F.Supp.2d 156, 158 (D.C. Dist. 2006) (“Mr. Safavian’s motion, while purporting to address

matters of law only, in fact argues for dismissal almost entirely on sufficiency-of-the evidence

grounds.  Such a determination is improper in this case because there has been no full proffer of

the evidence by the government, there is no stipulated record, and numerous material facts

remain in dispute.”).

II. THE COURT SHOULD NOT ADOPT THE ANALYSIS OF THE
BROWN MAJORITY.

As shown above, this Court does not have to address Brown because the indictment in

this case is valid on its face and because the defendants’ argument relies on disputed facts.

However, in the event the Court addresses the decision, it should decline to follow the analysis

of the Brown majority.  
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C-06-4435 CRB 11

A.  Brown Held That Corporate Employees Who Commit Accounting Fraud With The
      Approval Of Corrupt Senior Management Cannot Be Prosecuted For Honest Services
      Fraud.

In Brown, the panel agreed that the evidence at trial proved that several Merrill Lynch

employees conspired with Enron employees to engage in a sham transaction in order to falsify

Enron’s reported earnings and misrepresent Enron’s finances to its shareholders and the general

public.  As a result of the sham transaction, the Enron employees were awarded bonuses, and

Enron was required to pay fees to Merrill Lynch.  The majority recognized that the government

“present[ed] a very plausible, even strong, case for a criminal deprivation of honest services,

alleging a fiduciary breach – the failure to disclose the full truth about the barge transaction –

that resulted in both a personal benefit (increased bonus) to the duty-breaching Enron employees

and detriments (but also benefits) to the corporation itself.”  Brown, 459 F.3d at 520.  However,

the panel majority concluded as a matter of law that the scheme fell outside of the honest-

services provision of the federal fraud statutes.

The majority reasoned that in typical cases of honest services fraud, the schemers violate

their fiduciary duties to the employer with some action that benefits the schemers, to the

detriment of the employer’s best interests, usually through bribery or self-dealing.  Id. at 521.  In

Brown, however, “Enron employees breached a fiduciary duty in pursuit of what they

understood to be a corporate goal,” so that “the dishonest conduct is disassociated from bribery

or self-dealing and indeed associated with and concomitant to the employer’s own immediate

interest.”  Id. at 522.  The majority concluded:

We do not presume that it is in a corporation’s legitimate interests ever to misstate
earnings  – it is not.  However, where an employer intentionally aligns the interests of the
employee with a specified corporate goal, where the employee perceives his pursuit of
that goal as mutually benefitting him and his employer, and where the employee’s
conduct is consistent with that perception of the mutual interest, such conduct is beyond
the reach of the honest-services theory of fraud as it has hitherto been applied.

Id.

Judge Reavley dissented from the reversal of the conspiracy and wire fraud  convictions. 

He found the evidence to fall squarely within the ambit of § 1346 under the Fifth Circuit’s case

law, which he summarized as focusing on “the duty to disclose and materiality.”  Id. at 523

(citing United States v. Caldwell, 302 F.3d 399, 409 (5th Cir. 2002); United States v. Brumley,
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C-06-4435 CRB 12

116 F.3d 728, 734 (5th Cir. 1997) (en banc); United States v. Gray, 96 F.3d 769, 774-775 (5th

Cir. 1996); United States v. Fagan, 821 F.2d 1002, 1009 (5th Cir. 1987); United States v.

Ballard, 663 F.2d 534, 553 (5th Cir. 1981)).  In Brown, he said, where “the government proved

that the defendants’ scheme involved withholding material information from Enron and its

shareholders and caused a detriment to Enron and its shareholders,” the defendants were clearly

guilty of honest services wire fraud.  Id. at 533.

Judge Reavley rejected the majority’s conclusion that the defendants were not guilty of

honest services wire fraud because their scheme served the purposes of Enron’s management to

increase earnings by any means available:

First, the barge transaction did not serve the purpose of Enron’s shareholders, and it cost
Enron nearly $1.5 million, plus compensation to APACHI executives, that it should not
have had to pay.  Most important, falsifying Enron’s books does not serve a legitimate
corporate purpose, even if it temporarily made Enron’s finances appear more attractive to
the investing public in the short term.  Second, it is no defense that the defendants’ co-
conspirators included high-ranking executives at Enron.  The fact that those co-
conspirators were aware of defendants’ conduct does not excuse defendants’ actions.  But
most important, Enron executives are not Enron itself and, in any event, they owed a
fiduciary duty to Enron and its shareholders.

Id.  

B.  Brown’s Holding Should Be Rejected.
  
This Court should decline to adopt the Brown majority’s conclusion that defendants who

conspired to “cook” Enron’s books are not guilty of conspiring to deprive Enron of the honest

services of its employees, in essence because the scheme furthered the illegitimate goals of

corrupt members of Enron senior management and not merely the interests of the Enron

employees who participated in the scheme.  In other words, according to the Brown majority,

corporate employees may fraudulently violate their fiduciary duty in a manner that harms the

corporation and its shareholders, as long as their scheme furthers a “specified corporate goal” set

by management who are in on the fraudulent scheme.  That interpretation of the honest services

provision is flawed because it ignores the interests of a corporation’s shareholders (interests that

are not mentioned in the majority opinion) and exempts from criminal liability corporate

employees who act to achieve illegitimate corporate goals set by corrupt management.  

Although the majority acknowledged that it is not “in a corporation’s legitimate interests
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ever to misstate earnings,” the majority found that employees who followed the lead of corporate

managers whose “specified corporate goal” was to misstate earnings had not deprived the

company of their honest services.  Id. at 522.  That ruling redefines the corporate interest to

mean whatever the current management intends, however dishonest its plans and however much

it harms the shareholders.  But as Judge Reavley explained in dissent, the employees’ duty is to

act in the interest of a corporation as a whole – especially in the interests of the shareholders who

are its true owners – and to conduct its affairs legitimately.  The Brown majority’s ruling means

that § 1346 does not protect a company from fraudulent employees who are carrying out the

directions of their equally culpable superiors.  This defies common sense, as well as any proper

understanding of what constitutes a corporation and its long-term interests.

Judge Reavley also identified the fallacy in the majority’s notion that no honest services

fraud occurred because senior Enron management knew the full story about the barge transaction

and approved it: 

[I]t is no defense that the defendants’ co-conspirators included high-ranking executives at
Enron.  The fact that those co-conspirators were aware of defendants’ conduct does not
excuse defendants’ actions.  But most important, Enron executives are not Enron itself,
and, in any event, they owed a fiduciary duty to Enron and its shareholders.  

Id. at 533.  As Judge Reavley noted, it is fundamentally incorrect to equate a corporation with its

current managers, completely overlooking the fact that a corporation is owned by its

shareholders, virtually all of whom knew nothing whatsoever about the scheme.  Indeed, a

central purpose of the barge transaction was to mislead the shareholders and ensure that they

remained invested in the corporation, keeping the stock price up and increasing Enron

executives’ compensation.  Had the shareholders known of the scheme and realized both that the

company was not in fact meeting its earnings targets and that some of its leaders were dishonest,

many of them would surely have sold their stock or never would have bought it at all.  

The panel majority cited no authority for its remarkable proposition that employees

cannot commit honest services fraud when a company’s officers are in on the scheme.  One court

has specifically rejected that argument; though in a case based on a money or property theory of

mail fraud, the same reasoning about the relationship between shareholders and corporate
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3Accord Fagan, 821 F.2d at 1009 (fraud proven “when an employee violates his duty to
disclose to his employer economically material information” as Ballard defined materiality);
Gray, 96 F.3d at 774-775 (relying on Ballard, which “focused its inquiry on the duty to disclose
and materiality”); Brumley, 116 F.3d at 734 (§ 1346 requires “breach of a state-owed duty” and
consciousness that one’s “actions were something less than in the best interests of the
employer”); Caldwell, 302 F.3d at 409 (“honest services” indictment  adequately alleged breach
of fiduciary duty to disclose; materiality could be inferred).
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officers is equally applicable here.  In United States v. Wallach, 935 F.2d 445, 464 (2d Cir.

1991), the Second Circuit concluded: 

[W]e cannot accept defendants’ argument that the directors and officers of the
corporation have the authority to act on behalf of the shareholders and the corporation
and that therefore a criminal fraud cannot be perpetrated when all the officers are
participants in the scheme.  Defendants would have us endorse a theory of criminal law
that would effectively grant corporate officials and third-parties working in concert with
them a license to loot the corporate treasury as long as they were all in on the scheme. 
We decline to do so.  Such a theory completely fails to recognize and to protect the
property interests of the shareholders and the corporation. 

In short, it is incorrect to say that the barge scheme furthered any legitimate interest of Enron as

a whole; the notion that unscrupulous corporate managers can absolve fraudulent employees of

criminal liability under § 1346 is based on the plainly erroneous presumption that managers of a

corporation are synonymous with the corporation itself. 

C.  The Brown Majority Ignored Established Precedent.

The Brown majority departed from the so-called materiality test – which had been

adopted by the Fifth Circuit prior to Brown – that a defendant commits honest services fraud if,

as part of a scheme to defraud, the defendant breaches a fiduciary duty to disclose material

information to an employer.  Information is “material if the employee had reason to believe the

information would lead a reasonable employer to change its business conduct.”  Ballard, 663

F.2d at 553.3  The materiality test for defining honest services fraud has been adopted by other

circuits.  See United States v. Cochran, 109 F.3d 660, 667 (10th Cir. 1997); United States v.

Pennington, 168 F.3d 1060, 1065 (8th Cir. 1999).  In fact, in a case relied upon by the defense –

United States v. Rybicki, 354 F.3d 124 (2nd Cir. 2003) – the Second Circuit adopted the

materiality test: “We agree with these Circuits, and adopt the materiality test, holding that the

misrepresentation or omission at issue for an ‘honest services’ fraud conviction must be
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4Other circuits have rejected the materiality test in favor of the “reasonably foreseeable
harm test.”  Vinyard, 266 F.3d at 328.  The “two tests (the reasonably foreseeable harm test and
the materiality test) are similar in may respects.”  Id.   

5The Brown majority relied on the Second Circuit’s decision in Rybicki for that
proposition.  However, as the dissent in Brown notes, while it is true that bribery and self-
dealing may constitute honest services fraud, those are not the only types of conduct that may
deprive an employer of its intangible right to honest services.  Brown, 459 F.3d at 532 n.1. 
Rybicki should not be read to hold that the common or typical case is the only case that may be
brought under §§ 1341 and 1346.
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‘material,’ such that the misinformation or omission would naturally tend to lead or is capable of

leading a reasonable employer to change its conduct.”  Rybicki, 354 F.3d at 145.4 

In rejecting the materiality test as defining the contours of honest services fraud, the

Brown majority relied on the erroneous principle that evidence of a personal benefit is required

for all honest services charges.  That principle is erroneous because evidence of self-dealing may

be proof of a defendant’s intent to defraud, but it is not the only way to prove such an intent.  As

the Tenth Circuit held, 

We likewise reject Defendants’ argument that the mail and wire fraud counts must allege
an intent to achieve personal gain.  Such an intent, like the intent to harm, is not an
element of the mail or wire fraud statute.  Like proof of harm, proof of potential, actual,
or contemplated gain simply is one means of establishing the necessary intent to defraud.
. . . [T]he intent to defraud does not depend upon the intent to gain, but rather, on the
intent to deprive.  As the Second Circuit succinctly stated: “[T]he only intent that need be
proven in an honest services fraud is the intent to deprive another of the intangible right
of honest services.”  Rybicki, 287 F.3d at 262.     

United States v. Welch, 327 F.3d 1081, 1106 (10th Cir. 2003); see also United States v. Panarella,

277 F.3d 678, 691-92 (3rd Cir. 2002) (rejecting argument that an honest services charge requires

a showing of personal gain by the defendant); United States v. Stockheimer, 157 F.3d 1082,

1087 (7th Cir. 1998) (“An intent to defraud does not turn on personal gain.”).  

 The Brown majority was also wrong when it reasoned that other honest service cases

always involved evidence of kick-backs, bribes, or self-dealing – in other words, personal

financial gain.  Brown, 459 F.3d at 521.5  There are many cases – including cases within the

Fifth Circuit – where honest services fraud has been upheld even though the defendant did not

experience a personal, financial gain from his or her criminal conduct.  In United States v. Gray,

96 F.3d 769 (5th Cir. 1996), for example, members of Baylor University’s basketball coaching
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6The Brown majority tried to distinguish Gray on the ground that facts in Gray
“recognize[] nothing akin to Enron’s corporate incentive policy coupled with senior executive
support for the deal (the deal was sanctioned by Fastow, Enron’s Chief Financial Officer), which
together created an understanding that Enron had a corporate interest in, and was a willing
beneficiary of, the scheme.”  Brown, 459 F.3d at 522 n.13.  However, as explained above, the
fact that Enron’s executives were corrupt does not excuse or mitigate the conduct of the Brown
defendants.
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staff helped basketball recruits cheat on certain correspondence course work and exams so that

the players could obtain the credits they needed for eligibility and possible scholarships.  96 F.3d

at 771.  The Fifth Circuit upheld the coaches’ convictions for honest services fraud, relying on

Ballard and finding both a duty to disclose and materiality.  The coaches withheld information –

their cheating scheme – that was material because “Baylor did not get the quality student it

expected” and “Baylor might have been able to recruit other qualified, eligible student basketball

players” instead of having their players later disqualified from competition.  Id. at 775.  The

Court explicitly rejected the coaches’ argument that “their scheme was not intended to harm

Baylor but rather to help Baylor by ensuring a successful basketball team.”  Id. at 774.  That

argument lacked merit, the Fifth Circuit held, because if Baylor had known of the scheme, it

would not have sanctioned the cheating and would not have admitted the students.  Id. at 775.  In

sum, Gray upheld a conviction for honest services fraud in which the defendants acted with the

intent to further their employer’s interest and in which they did not engage in bribery, kickbacks,

or self-dealing.6  See also United States. v. Bronston, 658 F.2d 920, 930 (2d Cir. 1981) (holding

that law firm lawyer who agreed to represent client who had conflict of interest with a firm client

violated § 1346 by not disclosing conflict of interest even though lawyer did not personally

represent the firm’s client or use confidential information obtained from the firm’s client to his

own client’s advantage); United States v. Frost, 125 F.3d 346, 352-53, 366-68 (6th Cir. 1997)

(holding that university professors violated § 1346 by knowingly accepting plagiarized

dissertations from graduate students; defendants breached their fiduciary duties as professors by

awarding fraudulently earned degrees and harming university’s reputation).
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D.  Brown Is Distinguishable From This Case.

The defendants engaged in fraudulent conduct that falls squarely within the scope of

honest services mail fraud.  The defendants owed fiduciary obligations to Brocade and its

shareholders, including a duty of loyalty, candor, and fair dealing.  The defendants breached

their fiduciary duties to Brocade and its shareholders by fraudulently backdating stock option

grants and similar documents, thereby hiding hundreds of millions of dollars in compensation

costs from Brocade’s finance department, its Board, and ultimately its shareholders.  In so doing,

the defendants caused Brocade to give away equity for less than its worth, to overstate its profits,

to pay backdated pay to employees for work they did not perform for Brocade, and to restate its

financial statements.  The defendants became extremely wealthy selling Brocade stock during

the time when they were fraudulently keeping compensation costs off Brocade’s books, and they

did in fact grant stock options to themselves.     

Even if this Court were to adopt the analysis of the Brown majority, this case is

distinguishable from Brown.  Unlike in Brown, there can be no argument that the defendants’

conduct – the fraudulent concealment of compensation expenses through falsified corporate

records – was a corporate goal of Brocade.  Nobody at Brocade directed the defendants to

engage in that conduct and approved of the conduct.  Rather, defendants created the scheme and

took steps to hide the scheme from others in Brocade.  In fact, Brocade’s stated corporate policy

was to grant stock options at the fair market value of Brocade’s stock on the date of the grants. 

The defendants subverted that policy by backdating the stock option grants and hiding the

compensation costs associated with the stock option grants.  As such, the rationale of Brown

does not apply here.  This is not a case where the defendants fraudulent conduct was sanctioned

by the Board or others within the company and where defendants can credibly claim that their

fraudulent conduct was consistent with a stated corporate goal. 

The defendants are wrong when they argue that the “option granting program at Brocade

at all times operated in conformity with what the indictment itself properly identifies as the

program’s corporate mission, shared by management and the Board alike: i.e., recruiting and

retaining talent.”  (Def.’s Br. at 8.)  That argument misses the issue.  The issue is not whether the

Case 3:06-cr-00556-CRB     Document 116     Filed 01/31/2007     Page 17 of 20




1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

 

C-06-4435 CRB 18

defendants could legitimately administer a stock option program to recruit and retain talent. 

They clearly could.  Rather, the issue is whether the defendants could legitimately falsify

corporate records and backdate stock options in an effort to avoid a corporate policy of granting

options at fair market value and to hide the compensation costs associated with deviating from

that policy.  They clearly could not.  The defendants backdated the stock option grants to deceive

others regarding the manner in which they were administering the stock option program.  The

defendants’ deceptive acts – backdating and falsifying the documents relating to the grant of

stock options – were not in furtherance of any stated Brocade policy.

III.  THE COURT SHOULD NOT DISMISS ANY COUNTS.

Even if the Court were to accept defendants’ argument, the Court should not dismiss

counts from the indictment, and if did, the dismissal must be without prejudice.  The defendants

rely on United States v. Telink, Inc., 910 F.3d 598 (9th Cir. 1990), in arguing that the Court must

dismiss counts one through seven if it determines that the indictment improperly alleges honest

services mail fraud.  In that case, the defendants were county officials who were charged with

honest services mail fraud in connection with awarding certain telephone contracts.  During the

defendants’ trial, the Supreme Court handed down the McNally decision, holding that the mail

fraud statute protected only property rights.  The district court dismissed the indictment, and the

Ninth Circuit affirmed.  On appeal, the government argued that the mail fraud charge should not

be dismissed because it charged defendants with more than just engaging in a scheme to deprive

the county of its right to the defendants’ honest services.  The government contended that the

indictment charged the defendants with scheming to deprive “the County of property in the

forms of (1) confidential business information, (2) control over how its money was spent, and (3)

the benefit of a bargain.”  Telink, 910 F.2d at 600.  The Ninth Circuit rejected this argument

because the indictment could not be fairly read as charging the deprivation of those property

interests: “The indictment is silent on the three property interests which the government now

discusses at length.”  Id.  Because the indictment was “clear that the grand jury charged mail

fraud on the theory that defendants had schemed to ‘deprive governmental entities of the honest

and faithful service of employees,” the Ninth Circuit held that the indictment was properly

Case 3:06-cr-00556-CRB     Document 116     Filed 01/31/2007     Page 18 of 20




1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

 

C-06-4435 CRB 19

dismissed in light of McNally.  Id.  

The holding of Telink does not apply here for the following reasons.  First, there can be

no dispute that McNally was overruled when Congress enacted § 1346.  As such, unlike in

Telink, an indictment cannot be dismissed merely because it invokes honest services fraud as

one theory of liability under the mail fraud statute.  As explained above, the indictment in this

case properly charges the elements of honest services fraud and places defendants on notice of

the charged crime.  Although the parties in this case dispute the exact contours of honest services

fraud, the resolution of that dispute turns on disputed factual issues that cannot be resolved on

the face of the indictment. 

Second, the Telink court read the indictment at issue as charging only honest services

fraud under the mail fraud statute.  The Telink court rejected the government’s argument that the

indictment also charged property interests since those interests were not described in the

indictment.   Here, the indictment charges that defendants engaged in a fraudulent scheme “to

obtain money and property for themselves and others by means of materially false and fraudulent

pretenses, representations, and promises, and the concealment of material facts, and to deprive

their employer Brocade of its intangible right to their and other employees’ honest services.” 

Unlike in Telink, the indictment describes the property at issue: employee compensation,

particularly stock options.  As such, the indictment properly charges both the deprivation of

“property” and “honest services.”  Because those theories are charged in the conjunctive with the

word “and,” the Grand Jury necessarily found that both theories were validly charged.  As such,

even if the Court were to strike the “honest services” theory from the case, the indictment would

still properly charge the “property” theory. 

Third, Telink does not provide support for defendants’ argument that the Court must

dismiss all fraud charges in the case merely because the two mail fraud charges (Counts Three

and Four) allege that defendants deprived Brocade of its right to “honest services.”  The holding

of Telink is limited to the mail fraud count that charged honest services fraud. 

Fourth, even if the Court were to dismiss counts in the indictment, the dismissal must be

without prejudice.  See United states v. Soriano, 880 F.2d 192, 197 (9th Cir. 1989) (“Since
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reversal is based on defects in the indictment rather than on insufficiency of the evidence, there

is no jeopardy obstacle to further proceedings.”).  Before dismissing counts, the government

would request an opportunity to supersede the indictment.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, the defendants’ motion to dismiss Counts One through

Seven of the indictment should be denied.

DATED: January 31, 2007 Respectfully submitted, 

KEVIN V. RYAN
United States Attorney

___________/s/_____________
CHRISTOPHER J. STESKAL
Assistant United States Attorney
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